IN THE SUPREME COUT OF THE

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

DOMINIQUE LOPEZ,

Plaintiff, Appellant, and Petitioner,

VS.

SONY ELECTRONICS, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Case No. B256792; Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC476544

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WATERS KRAUS & PAUL
Michael B. Gurien (State Bar No. 180538)
222 North Sepulveda Boulevard, Suite 1900
El Segundo, California 90245
Telephone: (310) 414-8146
Facsimile: (310) 414-8156

Attorneys for Plaintiff, Appellant, and Petitioner Dominique Lopez

ISSUE FOR REVIEW

Is an action for injuries based on prebirth (*in utero*) exposure to toxic chemicals governed by the statute of limitations in Code of Civil Procedure section 340.8, which applies to "any civil action for injury or illness based upon exposure to a hazardous material or toxic substance," (Code Civ. Proc., § 340.8, subd. (a)), or the statute of limitations in section 340.4, which applies to "[a]n action by or on behalf of a minor for personal injuries sustained before or in the course of his or her birth"? (*Id.*, § 340.4.)

INTRODUCTION

This action arises out of severe birth defects and injuries suffered by Plaintiff, Appellant, and Petitioner Dominique Lopez (Dominique) from prebirth (*in utero*) exposure to toxic chemicals at an electronics manufacturing facility operated by Defendant and Respondent Sony Electronics, Inc. (Defendant Sony or Sony), where Dominique's mother worked while she was pregnant with her. Sony moved for summary judgment on the ground that this action was barred by the statute of limitations in section 340.4, which provides a six-year limitations period for "[a]n action by or on behalf of a minor for personal injuries sustained before or in the course of his or her birth," and which does not permit tolling for minority under section 352. (Code Civ. Proc., § 340.4.) In

Unless stated otherwise, all undesignated statutory references are to the Code of Civil Procedure.

opposition, Dominique argued that the applicable statute of limitations was section 340.8, which provides a two-year limitations period for "any civil action for injury or illness based upon exposure to a hazardous material or toxic substance." (*Id.*, § 340.8, subd. (a).) Dominique argued that this action was timely filed under section 340.8 because, unlike section 340.4, the limitations period in section 340.8 is subject to minority tolling under section 352 and she was a minor when her claim accrued and when this action was filed. Agreeing with Sony that Dominique's claim was subject to and barred by the limitations period in section 340.4, the trial court granted Sony's motion for summary judgment.

On appeal, the judgment was affirmed by a divided panel of the Second District Court of Appeal. The majority held that the applicable statute of limitations was section 340.4 and that Dominique's claim was time-barred under it. (Typed maj. opn. at pp. 2, 4-13.) In so holding, the majority disagreed with *Nguyen v. Western Digital Corp.* (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 1522 (*Nguyen*), in which the Sixth District Court of Appeal, considering the same limitations issue, unanimously held that "claims based on birth or pre-birth injuries that are due to exposure to hazardous materials or toxic substances are subject to the limitations period in section 340.8," not section 340.4.² (*Id.* at pp. 1528, 1539-1540, 1543-1551; see typed maj.

Nguyen was decided on September 25, 2014, approximately six months after the trial court's summary judgment ruling in this case. On

opn. at p. 2 [disagreeing with Nguyen].)

The dissent disagreed. Finding the statutory analysis and holding in *Nguyen* to be correct, the dissent concluded that Dominique's claim was subject to and timely filed in accordance with the limitations period in section 340.8. (Typed dis. opn. at pp. 1-2, 4-13.)

The majority's decision was erroneous because, as both the dissent and court in *Nguyen* correctly concluded, under the plain meaning of its clear language, the statute of limitations applicable to an action for prebirth injuries based on exposure to a hazardous material or toxic substance is section 340.8, not section 340.4. As discussed below, section 340.8 is a later, more specific statute that was enacted to establish a separate statute of limitations applicable to *all* civil actions for injury based on exposure to a hazardous material or toxic substance, *regardless of age*. The only exceptions are actions for injuries based on exposure to asbestos or the professional negligence of a health care provider, neither of which is applicable here.

Accordingly, the judgment of the Court of Appeal should be reversed, as should the judgment entered in favor of Defendant Sony, because this action was timely filed under section 340.8.

December 17, 2014, this Court denied the petition for review filed by the defendant in *Nguyen* (S222377).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND.

Dominique was born on April 13, 1999. (1 Appellant's Appendix (AA) 154 [fact no. 7], 176 [¶ 1], 178 [¶ 21]; 3 AA 636 [fact no. 7]; see also 1 AA 136:10-12; typed maj. opn. at p. 2.) Her mother, Cheryl Lopez, worked for Defendant Sony at a Sony electronics manufacturing facility in San Diego, California, from 1978 to 2000, including while she was pregnant with Dominique. (1 AA 153-154 [fact nos. 4, 6], 177-178 [¶¶ 15, 17-19, 21]; 3 AA 635 [fact nos. 4, 6]; see also 1 AA 136:5-10; typed maj. opn. at p. 2.) During the pregnancy, Cheryl was allegedly exposed to teratogenic³ and reproductively toxic chemicals at the Sony manufacturing facility, resulting in Dominique's exposure to the same toxic chemicals *in utero*. 4 (1 AA 154 [fact no. 6], 177-180 [¶¶ 17-19, 21, 28-30]; 3 AA 635

[&]quot;Teratogenic' means 'tending to cause developmental malformations" (Nguyen, supra, 229 Cal.App.4th at p. 1529, fn. 3; see People ex rel. Brown v. Tri-Union Seafoods, LLC (2009) 171 Cal.App. 4th 1549, 1556 ["A teratogen is a chemical that can cause birth defects."].)

The teratogenic and reproductively toxic chemicals to which Dominique was allegedly exposed include:

a. Ethylene glycol ethers and their acetates, propylene glycol monomethyl ether (PGME), propylene glycol monoethyl ether acetate (PGMEA), ethylene glycol, 2-butoxyethano;

b. Toluene;

c. Chlorinated polyvinyl chloride resin;

[fact no. 6]; see also 1 AA 136:7-10; typed maj. opn. at pp. 2-3.) As a result of these exposures, Dominique alleges that she suffered severe birth defects and injuries, including chromosomal deletion, fusion of cervical vertebrae, facial asymmetry, dysplastic nails, diverticulum of the bladder, a misshapen kidney, and developmental delays. (1 AA 154-155 [fact no. 8], 180-181 [¶¶ 32-33]; 3 AA 636 [fact no. 8]; see also 1 AA 136:10-12; typed maj. opn. at pp. 2-3.)

- d. Bisphenol A fumarate resin;
- e. Cyclohexanone;
- f. Molybdenum disulfide;
- g. Zinc pyrophosphate and zinc compounds;
- h. Isopropanol (IPA), isopropyl alcohol and acetone; and
- i. Methyl ethyl ketone (MEK), methyl alcohol and methyl isobutyl ketone;
- j. Xylene;
- k. 2-ethylhexoanic acid;
- 1. Ethoxylated alcohol;
- m. Tetrapotassium pyrophosphate;
- n. Lead; and
- o. Petroleum distillates, including white spirits, lacquer petrol, mineral spirits, solvent naptha and Stoddard solvent.

⁽¹ AA 154 [fact no. 6], 177-180 [¶¶ 17-19, 21, 28-30]; 3 AA 635 [fact no. 6]; see also 1 AA 136:7-10.)

II. PROCEDURAL SUMMARY.

A. Proceedings In The Trial Court.

The original complaint in this action was filed on January 6, 2012, when Dominique was 12 years of age. (1 AA 1, 153-154 [fact nos. 1, 7], 176 [¶ 1], 178 [¶ 21]; 3 AA 634 [fact no. 1], 636 [fact no. 7]; see also 1 AA 135:27 - 136:1, 136:10-12; typed maj. opn. at p. 2.) On June 6, 2012, an amendment naming Defendant Sony in place of fictitious defendant Doe 1 was filed. (1 AA 28.) The operative third amended complaint was filed on March 15, 2013, (*id.* at p. 89), alleging claims against Sony for negligence, strict liability, willful misconduct, intentional misrepresentation, negligent misrepresentation, deceit by concealment, and premises liability. (*Id.* at pp. 102-122.)

On or about July 12, 2013, Defendant Sony filed a motion for summary judgment on the ground that Dominique's "claim [wa]s barred by the statute of limitations set forth in California Code of Civil Procedure section 340.4." (1 AA 128-129.) Sony argued that Dominique's claim accrued no later than the year 2000, when her mother suspected that Dominique's birth defects had been caused by *in utero* toxic exposures at the Sony manufacturing facility where she worked, and that this action was barred by the six-year limitations period in section 340.4 because it was filed on January 6, 2012, more than six years after the accrual of Dominique's claim. (*Id.* at pp. 133-144; typed maj. opn. at p. 3.)

Anticipating Dominique's argument that the applicable statute of limitations is section 340.8, Defendant Sony argued that section 340.8 was inapplicable because section 340.4 is more specific and applies specifically to claims for prebirth injuries. (1 AA 144-148.) Additionally, Sony argued that it would contravene the intent of the Legislature to apply section 340.8, rather than section 340.4, because the limitations period in section 340.8 is subject to tolling for minority under section 352, whereas the limitations period in section 340.4 is not. (*Id.* at pp. 146-148.)

In her opposition to Defendant Sony's motion, Dominique argued that the applicable statute of limitations was section 340.8, not section 340.4, because section 340.8 was a later-enacted, more specific statute that was intended by the Legislature to apply to all actions for injury based on exposure to a hazardous material or toxic substance, except actions arising out of exposure to asbestos or involving medical malpractice. (2 AA 400-410.) Dominique argued that even if her claim accrued on the day she was born (April 13, 1999), the earliest possible time of accrual, it was not time-barred under the six-year limitations period in section 340.4 when section 340.8 became operative on January 1, 2004. (*Id.* at pp. 402-403, 409.) As such, she argued that her claim became subject to section 340.8 at that time (January 1, 2004), and that because the limitations period in section 352, this action was timely filed under section 340.8 because she was both a minor

and mentally incapacitated when the original complaint was filed. (*Id.* at pp. 409-411.)

In its reply, Defendant Sony again argued that the applicable statute of limitations was section 340.4, and that this action was time-barred under section 340.4 because it was filed more than six years after the accrual of Dominique's claim. (2 AA 487-497.)

Defendant Sony's motion for summary judgment was noticed for hearing on September 27, 2013, but the hearing was continued to October 23, 2013. (1 AA 128-129; 2 AA 393.) The parties appeared for the hearing on that date, but it was again continued, this time to March 14, 2014. (2 AA 558.)

Based on this lengthy continuance, Dominique filed an updated opposition on February 28, 2014, in which she argued that her claim was subject to the limitations period in section 340.8, rather than section 340.4, based on the plain meaning of section 340.8's clear language and because it was a later-enacted, more specific statute. (3 AA 569, 571-585.) In addition, she argued that although it was unnecessary to consult the legislative history of section 340.8, because the statute is clear and unambiguous, that history, if considered, supported her position because it showed that section 340.8 was enacted to establish a separate statute of limitations for all civil actions for injury based on exposure to hazardous material or toxic substance, except actions arising out of exposure to

asbestos or involving medical malpractice. (*Id.* at pp. 582-585; see also *id.* at pp. 569, 571-575.) Accordingly, because her claim was not time-barred under section 340.4 when section 340.8 became operative, Dominique argued that her claim became subject to section 340.8 at that time, and that this action was timely filed under section 340.8 based on tolling for minority and mental incapacity under section 352. (*Id.* at pp. 575-576, 586-587.)

Defendant Sony filed an updated reply, in which it argued, as before, that section 340.4 was the applicable statute of limitations, and that this action was time-barred under section 340.4 because it was filed more than six years after the accrual of Dominique's claim. (3 AA 701-711.)

Defendant Sony's motion for summary judgment was heard, argued, and taken under submission on March 14, 2014. (3 AA 781; Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings, Mar. 14, 2014, pp. 4-22.) Later that day, the trial court issued an order granting the motion. (3 AA 782-800.) The trial court ruled that the applicable statute of limitations was section 340.4, not section 340.8, because section 340.4 "is the more specific statute," (*id.* at pp. 782, 794-798), and that this action was barred by section 340.4 because Dominique's claim accrued no later than the year 2000 and this action was filed more than six years later. (*Id.* at pp. 782, 788-794; typed maj. opn. at p. 4.)

Judgment was entered in favor of Defendant Sony on April 8, 2014.

(3 AA 801-802; typed maj. opn. at p. 4.) Notice of entry of judgment was served on April 11, 2014. (3 AA 803-810.) Dominique filed a timely notice of appeal from the judgment on June 6, 2014. (*Id.* at pp. 811-815; Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.104(a)(1)(B).)

B. The Court Of Appeal's Decision.

In a published opinion filed on May 13, 2016, a divided panel of Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment in favor of Defendant Sony. The majority (Justice Grimes joined by Presiding Justice Bigelow) held that Dominique's claim was governed and barred by the statute of limitations in section 340.4. (Typed maj. opn. at pp. 2, 4-13.) In so holding, the majority disagreed with the decision in *Nguyen*, *supra*, 229 Cal.App.4th 1522, where the Sixth District Court of Appeal, considering the same limitations issue, unanimously held that "claims based on birth or pre-birth injuries that are due to exposure to hazardous materials or toxic substances are subject to the limitations period in section 340.8," not section 340.4. (*Id.* at pp. 1528, 1539-1540, 1543-1551; see typed maj. opn. at p. 2 [disagreeing with *Nguyen*].)

The dissent (Justice Rubin) disagreed. Agreeing with the analysis and holding in "Nguyen that the plain language of section 340.8 shows that it supersedes section 340.4 where an action for prenatal or birth injuries is based on exposure to toxic or hazardous substances," (typed dis. opn. at p. 7), the dissent would have reversed the judgment because Dominique's

claim was timely filed under section 340.8. (Id. at pp. 1-2, 4-13.)

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

Summary judgment is properly granted only "if all the papers submitted show there is no triable issue as to any material fact and . . . the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." (Code Civ. Proc., § 437c, subd. (c); *Martinez v. Combs* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 35, 68.) When moving for summary judgment, a defendant has the "burden of showing . . . that one or more elements of the cause of action . . . cannot be established, or that there is a complete defense to that cause of action." (Code Civ. Proc., § 437c, subd. (p)(2); accord, *Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield* Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 849-850.) Only if the defendant has satisfied its initial burden does the burden shift to the plaintiff to show the existence of a triable issue of material fact. If the defendant does not satisfy its burden, the burden does not shift and summary judgment should be denied. (Code Civ. Proc., § 437c, subd. (p)(2); *Aguilar*, at pp. 849-850.)

"In reviewing an order granting summary judgment, [the appellate court] must assume the role of the trial court and redetermine the merits of the motion." (S.M. v. Los Angeles Unified Sch. Dist. (2010) 184 Cal.App. 4th 712, 716; accord, Palm Springs Villas II Ass'n, Inc. v. Parth (2016) 248 Cal.App.4th 268, 278.)

"The determination of the statute of limitations applicable to a

cause of action is a question of law [that an appellate court] review[s] independently." (Stockton Citizens for Sensible Planning v. City of Stockton (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 1484, 1491, quoting McLeod v. Vista Unified Sch. Dist. (2008) 158 Cal.App.4th 1156, 1164.)

II. THE POTENTIALLY APPLICABLE STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS.

A. Section 340.4: The General Statute Of Limitations For Actions Based On Prebirth Or Birth Injuries.

Section 340.4 provides that "[a]n action by or on behalf of a minor for personal injuries sustained before or in the course of his or her birth must be commenced within six years after the date of birth, and the time the minor is under any disability mentioned in Section 352 shall not be excluded in computing the time limited for the commencement of the action."

Section 340.4 was enacted in 1992 and became operative on January 1, 1994. (Stats. 1992, ch. 163, §§ 16, 161, pp. 731, 842; *Nguyen, supra*, 229 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1539, 1545.) It "continues the last part of former Civil Code Section 29 without substantive change." (22 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. (1992) p. 750, reprinted in West's Ann. Code Civ. Proc. foll. § 340.4; accord, *Nguyen*, at pp. 1539, 1545.) Former Civil Code section 29

Section 352 states in pertinent part that "[i]f a person entitled to bring an action . . . is at the time the cause of action accrued either under the age of majority or insane, the time of the disability is not part of the time limited for commencement of the action." (Code Civ. Proc., § 352, subd. (a).)

was originally enacted in 1872 and was amended in 1941 to include a sixyear limitations period and "to state expressly that section 352 tolling did not apply to actions brought under that statute." (Young v. Haines (1986) 41 Cal.3d 883, 889, 892; accord, Nguyen, at p. 1545.)

Section 340.4 has been judicially construed to incorporate the discovery rule, under which a cause of action does not accrue, nor does the statute of limitations begin to run, until the plaintiff discovers, or should have discovered, the negligent or wrongful cause of his or her injury. (Young, supra, 41 Cal.3d at pp. 890, 892-893 [construing former Civ. Code, § 29]; Nguyen, supra, 229 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1539, 1545.) "Where the plaintiff is a minor, it is the knowledge or lack thereof of the parents which determines when the cause of action accrues." (Young, at p. 890, fn. 4.)

B. Section 340.8: The Statute Of Limitations For Injury Actions Based On Exposure To A Hazardous Material Or Toxic Substance.

Section 340.8 sets forth the limitations period for "any civil action for injury or illness based upon exposure to a hazardous material or toxic substance." (Code Civ. Proc., § 340.8, subd. (a).) It provides that "the time for commencement of the action shall be no later than either two years from the date of injury, or two years after the plaintiff becomes aware of, or reasonably should have become aware of, (1) an injury, (2) the physical cause of the injury, and (3) sufficient facts to put a reasonable person on inquiry notice that the injury was caused or contributed to by the wrongful

act of another, whichever occurs later." (*Ibid.*) Unlike section 340.4, the limitations period in section 340.8 is subject to tolling for minority and/or mental incapacity under section 352. (*Id.*, §§ 340.8, 352, subd. (a); see *Nguyen*, *supra*, 229 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1540-1541 ["we conclude that the tolling provision in section 352 for minority and insanity applies to section 340.8"].)

Pursuant to its express language, only two types of actions are excluded from the limitations period in section 340.8: (1) actions "subject to Section 340.2," the statute of limitations for asbestos-related injury claims; and (2) actions "subject to Section . . . 340.5," the statute of limitations for injury claims based on the professional negligence of a health care provider. (Code Civ. Proc., § 340.8, subd. (c)(1); Nguyen, supra, 229 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1540, 1546.) In addition, the statute provides that "[m]edia reports regarding the hazardous material or toxic substance contamination do not, in and of themselves, constitute sufficient facts to put a reasonable person on inquiry notice that the injury or death was caused or contributed to by the wrongful act of another." (Code Civ. Proc., § 340.8, subd. (c)(2).)

Further, the language of section 340.8 shows that it was intended to

Section 340.8, subdivision (c)(1), states: "For purposes of this section... [¶] A 'civil action for injury or illness based upon exposure to a hazardous material or toxic substance' does not include an action subject to Section 340.2 or 340.5."

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