S235357

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DOMINQUE LOPEZ, by and through her guardian *ad litem*, Cheryl Lopez, *Plaintiff and Appellant*

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

SUPREME COURT

FILED

FEB 2 4 2017

SONY ELECTRONICS, INC. Defendant and Respondent

VS.

Deputy

After A Decision By the Second Appellate District, Div. 8
Case No. B256792

Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC476544 Honorable Frederick C. Shaller



RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MUSICK, PEELER & GARRETT LLP William A. Bossen (State Bar No. 131438) Alejandro H. Aharonian (State Bar No. 231850) One Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 2000 Los Angeles, CA 90017-3383 Telephone: (213) 629-7600

I. INTRODUCTION

The claims at issue are time barred, the trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Defendant and Respondent SONY ELECTRONICS, INC. ("Sony"), and the Second Appellate District correctly affirmed that judgment. Plaintiff and Appellant DOMINIQUE LOPEZ ("Plaintiff") filed this action more than six years after the limitations period had run on her claims of prenatal personal injuries.

California Code of Civil Procedure ("C.C.P.") § 340.4 provides that an action for prenatal injuries must be commenced within six years after the date of birth. The only applicable exception is the "discovery rule," which tolls the accrual of the limitations period during the time the plaintiff does not suspect or have reason to suspect wrongdoing. Section 340.4 expressly precludes any tolling during the minority of the plaintiff which would otherwise be available under C.C.P. § 352.

Plaintiff was born on April 13, 1999. The undisputed facts presented in Sony's motion for summary judgment established that Plaintiff's mother, Cheryl Lopez, had an actual suspicion upon Plaintiff's birth that the chemicals to which Ms. Lopez was allegedly exposed had caused Plaintiff to incur birth defects. Certainly, Ms. Lopez had such suspicion no later than February 2000, when she filed a workers' compensation claim alleging prenatal chemical exposure had caused Plaintiff's condition. Plaintiff had six years from her date of birth, no later than April 12, 2005, within which to file this action. Even assuming the limitations period began to run when Ms. Lopez filed her workers' compensation claim in February 2000,

1021237.1

It should be clear that Sony denies any of Plaintiff's claimed injuries or birth defects were caused by any chemical exposure created by Sony, or other acts or omissions of Sony. However, because Plaintiff's claims are time barred, as the trial court and Court of Appeal correctly ruled, there is no need for this case to reach a resolution on the merits.

Plaintiff was required to file this action no later than February 2006. Instead, Plaintiff filed this action nearly thirteen years after her birth, on January 6, 2012. This action is time-barred.

In her opposition to Sony's motion for summary judgment, Plaintiff did not submit any evidence or otherwise attempt to raise any triable issue that would support a tolling of the limitations period under the discovery rule. Rather, Plaintiff's sole argument in opposition to Sony's summary judgment motion, as in her argument before the Second Appellate District and this Court, is that C.C.P. § 340.8 applies to her claims, which is subject to tolling under section 352.

In her Opening Brief, Plaintiff relies heavily on the Sixth Appellate District's decision *Nguyen v. Western Digital Corp.* (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 1522, and the dissent in the Court of Appeal's decision in this case. In the *Nguyen* opinion, the Sixth Appellate District held that section 340.8 applies to prenatal injuries caused by exposure to hazardous material or toxic substances. The *Nguyen* court also held the limitations period of section 340.8 is tolled during the plaintiff's minority under section 352. The dissent in the Court of Appeal's decision in this case largely adopted the reasoning in *Nguyen*.

In reality, then, the import of the *Nguyen* decision and the dissent in this case is that C.C.P. § 340.8 more than triples a plaintiff's time to file an action alleging prenatal injuries caused by exposure to a hazardous material or toxic substance (from six years to effectively 20 years), while a plaintiff alleging prenatal injuries caused by anything else must file an action within six years of birth under C.C.P. § 340.4. At the same time, C.C.P. § 340.8 caused no change whatsoever to the limitations period applicable to toxic injuries occurring post-birth, because section 340.8 simply adopted the same two-year limitations period already generally applicable to personal injury

cases under C.C.P. § 335.1. According to the reasoning in *Nguyen* and the dissent in this case, the only limitations period actually affected by the enactment of C.C.P. § 340.8 was the limitations period applicable to prenatal injuries. All this without a word from the Legislature regarding any intent to change the limitations period for prenatal injuries. This cannot be.

Sony submits the majority opinion in this case correctly concluded the six-year limitations period with no tolling provided by C.C.P. 340.4 continues to apply to prenatal toxic injury cases as it has for more than seven decades. C.C.P. § 340.4 is part of a statutory scheme designed to afford a plaintiff the right to bring an action for prenatal injuries, but subject to a six-year limitations period with no tolling during minority. The right to bring an action for prenatal injuries did not exist before the enactment of this statutory scheme. The Legislature first enacted this right with the passage of California Civil Code § 29 in 1872. In enacting section 29, the Legislature did not include a specific limitations period for prenatal injuries.

In 1939, dicta in Scott v. McPheeters (1939) 33 Cal.App.2d 629 suggested an action for prenatal injuries would be tolled during the age of the child's minority pursuant to C.C.P. § 352. (See, Scott at 631 ["Section 376 of the Code of Civil Procedure authorizes a father or a mother to maintain an action for the injury or death of a minor child caused by the wrongful act or neglect of another person. The statute of limitations does not run against such an action until the child arrives at the age of majority. (Sec. 352, subd. 1, Code Civ. Proc.)."].)

In 1941, the Legislature specifically rejected this *dicta* in the *Scott* decision by amending section 29 to include a six-year limitations for prenatal injuries with no tolling during the plaintiff's minority. The right to bring an action for prenatal injuries and the corresponding six-year

limitations period are now codified in Cal. Civil Code § 43.1 and C.C.P. § 340.4, respectively.

Plaintiff's position in this case would revive the rejected *dicta* in the *Scott* decision in direct contravention of the Legislature's expressly-stated intent, by tolling an action for prenatal injuries during the plaintiff's minority. Nothing in the language or legislative history of C.C.P. § 340.8 suggests the Legislature intended such a radical departure from the long-established principles of law codified in Civil Code section 29 and 43.1, and section 340.4.

As clearly reflected in the legislative history of section 340.8, the Legislature simply intended to codify the delayed discovery rule for toxic injury cases. Indeed, as previously mentioned, section 340.8 did not create a new two-year limitations period for toxic injury cases, because toxic injury cases were already subject to a two-year limitations period under C.C.P. § 335.1. In enacting section 340.8, the Legislature intended to disapprove of the use of media reports, in and of themselves, as triggering the limitations period for toxic injury cases. (See, C.C.P. section 340.8(c)(2) ["Media reports regarding the hazardous material or toxic substance contamination do not, in and of themselves, constitute sufficient facts to put a reasonable person on inquiry notice that the injury or death was caused or contributed to by the wrongful act of another.]; *Unruh-Haxton v. Regents of the University of California* (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 343, 363.)

Nothing in the legislative history reflects an intent to create a new limitations period for toxic injuries generally, or for prenatal injuries specifically. Nor does the express language of section 340.8 indicate any intent to supersede the six-year limitations period applicable to prenatal injuries under C.C.P. § 340.4. It cannot be presumed the Legislature

intended to abrogate the long-standing statutory scheme applicable to prenatal injuries in the absence of the Legislature's express statement of such intent.

The legislative intent behind the two statutes, sections 340.4 and 340.8, can best be harmonized and given effect by applying section 340.4 to prenatal toxic exposure claims, as the delayed discovery rule applies under both. Conversely, applying section 340.8 to such claims, as Plaintiff suggests, would defeat the express legislative intent and nullify the actual language of section 340.4 which precludes tolling under section 352 to prenatal injury claims. Further, because the Legislature did not address the potential conflict between the two sections, the law presumes the Legislature intended section 340.4 to remain in full force and effect. Plaintiff's argument that the Legislature, without a word of discussion or text, impliedly repealed the express provision in section 340.4 carving prenatal claims out from section 352 is untenable. If the Legislature intended to repeal an express provision of section 340.4, it would have done so expressly.

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Plaintiff was born on April 13, 1999. (1 Appellant's Appendix ("A.A.") 30:3-4.) Plaintiff's complaint, filed on January 6, 2012, alleges she was born with numerous birth defects, including fusion of her cervical vertebrae, facial asymmetry, dysplastic nails, diverticulum of the bladder, a misshapen kidney, and developmental delays. (1 A.A. 6:4-9.) Plaintiff's mother worked at a Sony facility in San Diego from 1978 through 2000, including during her pregnancy with Plaintiff. (1 A.A. 3:9-10.)

Plaintiff operative third amended complaint, filed March 15, 2013, alleges claims against Sony for negligence, strict liability, willful misconduct, intentional misrepresentation, negligent misrepresentation,

deceit by concealment and premises liability. (1 A.A. 89-90.) Plaintiff alleged that, during her mother's employment with Sony, she was exposed to chemicals which caused plaintiff's birth defects. (1 A.A.93:18-94:8.)

Sony moved for summary judgment on the ground Plaintiff's action was barred by section 340.4 which imposes a six-year statute of limitations for prenatal injuries, and which also expressly provides there is no tolling of the limitations period under section 352 during the plaintiff's minority. (1 A.A. 128.) In support of its motion, Sony filed evidence showing Plaintiff's mother suspected a connection between her employment at Sony and Plaintiff's condition on or before February 2000.²

Plaintiff opposed Sony's motion, arguing her action was subject to section 340.8, not section 340.4. (2 A.A. 396.) Under section 340.8, the two-year limitations period may be tolled under section 352 during a plaintiff's minority. Thus, Plaintiff argued her action was timely because it was filed when she was still a minor. Plaintiff did not offer any evidence to dispute that her mother knew, since at least 2000, of the alleged connection between her workplace exposures at Sony and plaintiff's birth defects.

On November 11, 1998, Plaintiff's mother told her obstetrician she was concerned for her unborn child due to chemical exposure (1 A.A. 246:17-247:15) and filed a report that same day stating that she suffered "nausea and headaches from smelling Domino compound. (I am 4 months pregnant)." (1 A.A. 249.) Following Plaintiff's birth, a "Neurology Service" report dated February 3, 2000 states her mother suspected Plaintiff's condition was caused by chemical exposure while working for Sony (*Id.*, "Birth History," emphasis added.) On February 9, 2000, Plaintiff's mother filled out a Worker's Compensation form asserting that Plaintiff's condition was caused by prenatal chemical exposure at Sony. (1 A.A. 268.) A medical report dated February 15, 2000 stated the possibility that Plaintiff's condition was caused by her mother's prenatal chemical exposure while working at Sony. (1 A.A. 276.)

The trial court granted Sony's motion by order dated March 14, 2014. (3 A.A. 782-800.) Judgment in favor of Sony was entered thereafter on April 8, 2014. (*Id.* at 801-802.) Plaintiff filed a notice of appeal on June 6, 2014. (*Id.* at 811-815.) On May 13, 2016, a divided panel of the Court of Appeal, Second District affirmed the judgment. (*Lopez v. Sony Electronics, Inc.* (2016) 247 Cal.App.4th 444.)

On June 22, 2016, plaintiff filed a request for review with this Court. On August 24, 2016, this Court granted the petition for review.

III. <u>LEGAL DISCUSSION</u>

A. Standard of Review

On appeal from a summary judgment, the appellate court, like the trial court, strictly construes the moving papers and liberally construes the opposing papers; the moving papers are viewed in the light most favorable to appellant. (Wilson v. 21st Century Ins. Co. (2007) 42 Cal.4th 713, 717; Garrett v. Howmedica Osteonics Corp. (2013) 214 Cal.App.4th 173, 181.)

Matters presenting pure questions of law, not involving the resolution of disputed facts, are subject to the appellate court's *de novo* review. (*Aryeh v. Canon Business Solutions, Inc.* (2013) 55 Cal.4th 1185, 1191.) Application of a statute to undisputed facts presents a question of law subject to independent appellate determination. (*International Engine Parts, Inc. v. Feddersen & Co.* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 606, 611.)

B. <u>C.C.P. Section 340.4 Applies To Plaintiff's Claim of Prenatal Injuries, Including Its Express Legislative Decree That Such Claims Are Not Tolled During The Plaintiff's Minority</u>

The right of a child to bring an action for prenatal injuries is a statutorily created right which did not exist at common law. (*Scott, supra,* 33 Cal.App.2d, 629.) This right first came into existence when California

Civil Code section 29 was enacted in 1872.³ At that time, section 29 did not contain any statute of limitations, and the nature of the cause of action determined which of the many statutes of limitations applied. (Young v. Haines (1986) 41 Cal.3d 883, 892.) Dicta in the 1939 Scott decision suggested that an action for prenatal injuries under section 29 would be tolled during the child's minority pursuant to C.C.P. section 352. (Scott, supra, 33 Cal.App.2d at 631.) In response, the Legislature acted swiftly and clearly to reject this dicta in Scott by enacting an amendment to section 29 which expressly excluded prenatal injury claims from section 352 tolling and set forth a six year statute of limitations for prenatal injury actions. (Olivas v. Weiner (1954) 127 Cal.App.2d 597, 599; See also Hon. Robert W. Kenny, Analysis of Changes Made in Probate and Civil Codes by 1941 Legislature, 16 Cal. St. B.J. 276 (1941); Stanley Howell, The Work of the 1941 California Legislature, 15 S. Cal. L. Rev. 1 (1941).)⁴

In *Olivas, supra,* 127 Cal.App.2d 597, the Court of Appeal described the Legislature's intent in amending section 29:

"The Legislature undoubtedly concluded that to permit such an action to be filed up to 22 years after the child's birth, i.e., within one year after it reached majority, placed an unreasonable burden upon the defendant to locate witnesses and to produce evidence in defense of the charges after the lapse of such a long period. The Legislature decided that six years was a reasonable time within which to bring such an action." (Olivas, at 599.)

The right to maintain an action in tort for prenatal injuries is now codified in Civil Code section 43.1, which states in relevant part: "[a] child conceived, but not yet born, is deemed an existing person, so far as necessary for the child's interests in the event of the child's subsequent birth."

Copies of the Kenny and Howell authorities are found at 2 A.A. 548-554.

The six-year limitations period for prenatal injuries is now codified in C.C.P. § 340.4. Like its predecessor (Civil Code section 29), section 340.4 precludes tolling of the limitations period during the plaintiff's minority. Section 340.4 states:

"An action by or on behalf of a minor for personal injuries sustained before or in the course of his or her birth must be commenced within six years after the date of birth, and the time the minor is under any disability mentioned in Section 352 shall not be excluded in computing the time limited for the commencement of the action."

The Legislature's intent in enacting and amending Civil Code section 29 and C.C.P. § 340.4 is clear and express: section 352 does not apply to prenatal injury claims, and there is no tolling during the age of minority.

C. Plaintiff's Claims Are Not Saved By The Discovery Rule

To address the potential injustice that could occur for injuries sustained before an unborn child could possibly know of the potential causes of such injury, the delayed discovery rule has been consistently applied to section 340.4 and its predecessor, ameliorating the otherwise strict six years from birth limitations on claims for prenatal injuries.

(Dillashaw v. Ayerst Laboratories, Inc. (1983) 141 Cal.App.3d 35, 38; Myers v. Stevenson, (1954), 125 Cal.App.2d 399, 407.)

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